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“Except as otherwise expressly pro-
vided by law, no person shall be pros-
ecuted, tried, or punished for any of-
fense, not capital, unless the indictment 
is found or the information is instituted 
within five years next after such an of-
fense shall have been committed.” 18 
U.S.C. § 3282 (a).

When asked, 
“How long 
does the fed-
eral govern-
ment have 

to prosecute me?,” most defense 
lawyers cite the above statute 
and give an answer of five years. 
However, there are several stat-
utes which provide for longer 
and shorter periods during which 
the government can bring charg-
es against citizens.

A criminal statute of 
limitations is a law which 
sets forth time limits for 
instituting charges against a 
citizen. It forbids prosecutors 
from charging someone with 
a crime that was committed 
more than a specified number 
of years ago.

The main purpose of a statute of limi-
tations is to keep citizens from having 
to defend themselves from charges that 
occurred so far in the past that it is dif-
ficult, if not impossible, to defend one-
self. In many cases, evidence may no 
longer be available and memories have 
faded.

The statute of limitations is an affir-
mative defense. It should be filed pretrial 
pursuant to F.R.Cr.P. 12(b). This defense 
can be waived explicitly. A knowing and 
intelligent waiver of the statute of limi-
tations is valid.1 A plea of guilty without 
expressly reserving the statute of limita-
tions has been held to waive later asser-
tions of the defense.2 Failure to raise the 

defense before trial will be considered a 
waiver of the defense.3

In Musacchio v. United States, 136 
S.Ct. 709 (2016), the Supreme Court 
held that a defendant cannot raise the 
statute of limitation defense for the first 
time on appeal. The Court noted that 
statutes of limitations and other dead-
lines “ordinarily are not jurisdictional.” 
The Court held that it would treat a time 
bar as jurisdictional “only if Congress 
has ‘clearly stated’ that it is.”4 As to 18 
U.S.C. §  3282 (a), the Court held that 
Congress had not made such a clear 
statement.

No Limitations

There is no time limit to bring an in-
dictment for an offense “punishable by 
death[.]” Under 18 U.S.C. § 3281, such 
an indictment “may be brought at any 
time, without limitation.”

There are 91 federal crimes which 
call for the death penalty.5 All of these 
crimes involve situations where a victim 
is killed.

In addition to these capital crimes, 
there is no statute of limitations for 
crimes which Congress has associated 
with terrorism, if they result in death or 
serious injury, or create a foreseeable 
risk of death or serious injury. See, 18 
U.S.C. § 3286 (b). This statute referenc-
es 18 U.S.C. § 2332b (g)(5)(B), which 
lists all of the terrorism offenses; there 
are 49 in all.

The last category of crimes that may 
be prosecuted at any time are various 
child abduction and sex offenses. See, 
18 U.S.C. §  3299. This statute cross-
references to other statutes; there are 19 
such statutes.

In sum, there are 159 crimes for 
which there is no time limitation for the 
federal government to institute prosecu-
tion. These crimes can be broken down 
into three separate categories: (1) capital 
offenses — crimes in which a person’s 
life has been taken; (2) crimes associat-
ed with terrorism, if they result in death 
or serious injury, or create a foreseeable 
risk of death or serious injury; and (3) 
various designated federal crimes deal-
ing with child abduction and sex of-

fenses.
Finally, no statute of limitations shall 

extend to any person fleeing from jus-
tice. 18 U.S.C. § 3290.

20 Years

There is only one law which has a 
20-year statute of limitations. 18 U.S.C. 
§ 3294 provides that no person shall be 
prosecuted for a violation of theft of ma-
jor artwork (18 U.S.C. § 668) unless the 
indictment is returned within 20 years 
after the commission of the offense.

10 Years

Crimes which have a 10-year stat-
ute of limitations are identified in 18 
U.S.C. §§ 3291, 3293, 3295, 3298 and 
3300. These statutes cover (1) national-
ity, citizenship and passports, (2) crimes 
against financial institutions, (3) arson 
offenses, (4) crimes relating to traffick-
ing and forced labor, and (5) recruit-
ment of child soldiers. There are 38 total 
crimes subject to a 10-year statute of 
limitations.

18 U.S.C. §  3283 provides that for 
offenses involving the sexual or physi-
cal abuse or kidnapping of a child under 
the age of 18, the statute of limitations 
does not run during the life of the child, 
or for 10 years after the offense, which-
ever is longer. 

Eight Years

18 U.S.C. § 3286 sets forth an eight-
year statute of limitations for a variety 
of crimes, mostly terrorism-related of-
fenses which are listed in 18 U.S.C. 
2332b (g)(5)(B), when the commission 
of the offense did not result in, or cre-
ate a foreseeable risk of, death or seri-
ous bodily injury to another person. 
Other crimes listed in §  3286 include 
18 U.S.C. § 112 (protection of foreign 
officials and guests), 18 U.S.C. §  351 
(assault on congressional, cabinet and 
Supreme Court members), 18 U.S.C. 
§  1361 (willful injury of government 
property or property being manufactured 
for the government), 18 U.S.C. § 1751 
(assault on the President or presidential 
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staff), and 49 U.S.C. §§ 46504, 46505 
and 46506 (certain crimes committed 
on airlines).

Seven Years
18 U.S.C. §  1031 is a statute that 

defines and criminalizes fraud against 
the United States. Section 1031 (f) 
provides that a prosecution under this 
section may be commenced at any 
time not later than seven years after 
the offense is committed, plus any ad-
ditional time allowed by law. Other 
crimes with a seven-year statute of 
limitations include 18 U.S.C. §  247 
(damage to religious property) and 18 
U.S.C. § 249 (hate crime acts that do 
not result in death). 

Six Years
18 U.S.C. § 3301 sets forth six se-

curities fraud offenses which are sub-
ject to a six-year statute of limitations.

One Year
Criminal contempt actions brought 

under 18 U.S.C. § 402 are subject to a 
one-year statute of limitations. See, 18 
U.S.C. § 3285.

Tax Offenses
Tax offenses have unique rules re-

garding the statute of limitations. Tax 
offenses have either a three- or six-year 
statute of limitations, depending on the 
type of offense charged. 

Continuing Offenses
Generally, the statute of limitations 

begins to run when the offense is com-
pleted.6 However, courts have held that 
some offenses are “continuing” in nature. 
For example, possession of contraband 
offenses are continuing offenses.7 Most 
importantly, conspiracy offenses are 
usually continuing in nature. The gen-
eral conspiracy statute consists of two 

elements: (1) an agreement to commit 
a federal crime or to defraud the United 
States, and (2) an overt act committed in 
furtherance of the agreement.8 For a con-
spiracy, the limitations begin to run when 
the last overt act is committed.9 If an indi-
vidual withdraws from a conspiracy, the 
statute of limitations will start at the time 
of withdrawal.10

The statute of limitations under con-
spiracy statutes that have no overt act 
requirement runs from the accomplish-
ment of the objectives of the conspiracy, 
or from its abandonment.11

Other continuing offenses include 
escape from federal custody,12 flight to 
avoid prosecution,13 failure to appear for 
sentencing,14 possession of the skin and 
skull of an endangered species,15 posses-
sion of counterfeit currency16 and kid-
napping.17

According to the U.S. Attorneys’ 
Manual, the finding that an offense is a 
continuing offense is disfavored. It must 
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be found that “the explicit language of the 
substantive criminal statute compels such 
a conclusion, or that the nature of the crime 
involved is such that Congress must assur-
edly have intended that it be treated as a 
continuing one.”18

Suspension of Limitations
Congress has authorized the suspension 

of the statute of limitations in certain situ-
ations. For example, 18 U.S.C. § 3287 is 
known as wartime suspension. This law 
provides that when the United States is at 
war or Congress has enacted a specific au-
thorization for the use of the armed forces, 
the running of any statute of limitations for 
certain crimes shall be suspended until five 
years after the termination of hostilities as 
proclaimed by presidential proclamation 
or by concurrent resolution of Congress. 
The crimes contemplated by this statute 
(though not specifically defined by cross-
referencing other statutes) generally deal 
with fraud in the acquisition or negotiation 
of contracts connected with or related to 
the prosecution of the war.

The government can also suspend the 
statute of limitations for an offense in or-
der to secure evidence held in foreign 
countries (18 U.S.C. §  3292), for cases 
involving child abuse (18 U.S.C. § 3283), 
for concealment of assets of an estate in 
bankruptcy (18 U.S.C. §  3284), for any 
fugitive (18 U.S.C. § 3290), or for cases 
involving the use of DNA evidence (18 
U.S.C. §§ 3282 (b) and 3297).

Tolling Agreements
The running of a statute of limitations 

is tolled during periods when the defen-
dant is a fugitive. See, 18 U.S.C. § 3290. 
Physical absence from the jurisdiction is 
not required to trigger this tolling provi-
sion.19

The running of a statute of limitations 
may also be tolled on application of the 
United States during the pendency of an 
official request to a foreign court or au-
thority to obtain the evidence located in a 
foreign country. See, 18 U.S.C. § 3292.

RICO Violations
The Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt 

Organizations Act (RICO), 18 U.S.C. 

§§  1961-1968, requires that state crimes 
used as predicate offenses be “chargeable 
under State law.” The federal courts have 
uniformly held that regardless of the run-
ning of the state statute of limitations, a de-
fendant is still “chargeable” with the state 
offense within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. 
1961 (1)(A).20 The reference to state law in 
the statute is simply to define the conduct 
and is not meant to incorporate state pro-
cedural law.

Superseding or Defective 
Indictments

If an indictment is dismissed because of 
a legal defect or grand jury irregularity, the 
government may return a new indictment 
within six months of the date of dismissal 
or within the original limitations, which-
ever is later.21 After the original limitations 
period has expired, a superseding indict-
ment may narrow, but may not broaden, 
the charges made in the original indict-
ment. See, 18 U.S.C. §§ 3288-3289.22

Concealing Bankruptcy 
Assets

The statute of limitations on offenses 
which involve concealing bankruptcy as-
sets does not begin to run until a final deci-
sion discharging or refusing the discharge 
of the debtor. See, 18 U.S.C. § 3284, which 
specifically deems the concealment of as-
sets of a debtor in a case under Title 11 “a 
continuing offense until the debtor shall 
have been finally discharged or a discharge 
denied,” at which point the period of limi-
tations shall begin to run.

Conclusion

For the majority of crimes listed in the 
United States Code, there is a five-year 
statute of limitations. However, there are 
many other crimes that have longer, and 
some shorter, periods in which the gov-
ernment can institute prosecution. These 
statutes are spread throughout the United 
States Code and are occasionally amended. 
When representing a client charged under 
any statute, defense counsel should always 
check the applicable statute of limitations.
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